1989

# Marilyn J. Durfee v. Frank W. Durfee : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction to decide the appeal pursuant to § 78-2a-3(2)(g), U.C.A. 1953, as amended 1987.

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from a final order of the Court modifying a divorce decree by increasing child support payments and denying defendant-appellant's counterpetition for modification.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Did the Court err in denying Appellant's request to terminate payment of support to the legal custodian who did not have actual physical custody or economic responsibility for the minor child?

II. Did the Court err in finding a material change of circumstances due to: a) a change in gross income of the non-custodial parent over a ten year period and rejecting Appellant's theory of comparison of discretionary income, or b) taking judicial notice of the increase of the costs of raising children as they grow older?

III. Did the Court err in following the guidelines to determine the amount of support and in rejecting the traditional

pre-guideline analysis of needs of the children and ability to pay?

IV. Did the Court err in preventing cross-examination as to the specific expenses allocable to the children for whom support was to be paid by Appellant?

V. Did the Court err in modifying the decree of divorce to require the noncustodial parent to pay one-half of the noncovered medical and dental expenses?

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

Utah Code Annotated 1953, As Amended

§ 30-3-5

(1) When a decree of divorce is rendered, the court may include in it equitable orders relating to the children, property and parties. . . .

(3) The court has continuing jurisdiction to make subsequent changes or new orders for the support and maintenance of the parties, the custody of the children and their support, maintenance, health and dental care, or the distribution of the property as is reasonable and necessary.

Utah Rule of Evidence 201.

A. Scope of Rule.

This Rule governs only judicial notice of adjudicative facts.

B. Kinds of Facts.

A judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court, or (2)

capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.

Code of Judicial Administration, Appendix H, Uniform Child Support Guidelines.

I.4. Application to Existing Orders: THE ADOPTION OF THESE GUIDELINES AND ANY CONSEQUENT IMPACT ON EXISTING CHILD SUPPORT ORDERS DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A SUBSTANTIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES TO INDEPENDENTLY ALLOW MODIFICATION OF AN EXISTING ORDER.

Petitions for modification of existing child support orders in place on October 30, 1988 will be considered on a case-by-case basis. Courts have continuing jurisdiction to modify child support orders under circumstances amply described by present case law to advance the welfare of the child when there is a material change in circumstances. In determining requested modifications of support orders entered prior to the effective date of the guidelines, the court will consider the totality of the present circumstances of the parties and avoid modifications which would work undue hardship on the parties or any children presently dependent thereon.

II.B.1.(a) Health and Dental Insurance Premiums for Children

. . . Those non-covered routine medical and dental expenses will be borne by the custodial parent. Routine expenses include routine office visits. Physical examinations and immunizations.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition

The parties were divorced in 1978 and the plaintiff mother was awarded custody of two minor children with defendant



father being required to pay \$150.00 per month as child support for a total of \$300.00 per month. In August 1988, plaintiff filed a petition to amend the decree of divorce asking for an increase in child support and that defendant be required to pay and assume one-half of the deductibles in non-covered hospital, medical, dental and optical expenses incurred by the minor children. The defendant filed a counter-petition asking that his obligation to pay support to the plaintiff for Craig Wayne Durfee be terminated and that plaintiff be ordered to execute the appropriate Federal form to allow defendant to claim the minor children as his exemptions on his State and Federal income tax return.

The trial was held on January 13, 1989 before the Honorable Pat B. Brian in Tooele County, State of Utah. The Court announced its decision in the case at the conclusion of the trial. (Tr. 109). The defendant filed a motion for a new trial. (R. 117). The Court denied defendant's motion for a new trial (R. 181). The Court entered a judgment and order on February 27, 1989 (R. 153), which order increased child support to \$323.00 per month for the minor child Chris, age 12, and \$375.00 per month for the minor child Craig, age 16, and required each party to assume and pay one-half of the noncovered and unpaid medical, hospital, dental, orthodontial and optical expenses of the minor children presently outstanding and denying the request of defendant made in his counterpetition to terminate support for Craig and to require the plaintiff to execute the appropriate Federal form to allow defendant to claim the minor children as

his exemptions for the purposes of his State and Federal income tax filings.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Court announced prior to the beginning of trial in chambers that he strictly followed the Guidelines and later on the record his statements assumed the Guidelines applied and attempted to elicit a proffer regarding gross income and other facts from the parties. (Tr. 13). Testimony was thereafter taken from both parties and certain exhibits were marked and received concerning the income and expense analysis of the defendant (R. 86, 89) (Addendum 1, 2), and the expenses of plaintiff (R. 85) (Addendum 3). During cross-examination of plaintiff, the Court sustained the objection of plaintiff's attorney to questions by defendant's counsel regarding the actual economical impact of the minor child in her custody (Tr. 83) stating that the Court could take judicial notice that children are more expensive as they age (Tr. 84), that the Court had experience with its own six children in that connection, and that the Court was not going to listen to evidence of actual expense or experiences in connection with the children at the present time (Tr. 84). Plaintiff had testified over defendant's foundational objection that Chris cost \$500.00 per month, and Craig cost \$600.00 per month (Tr. 73).

During the course of trial the credible evidence and best evidence showed that defendant's income in the year of the divorce was \$32,634.00 (R. 80, Tr. 31) and during the year 1988, defendant's income was, after adjustments, \$41, 536.00 (R. 89,

90, Tr. 27, 29). The Court found that the 1978 income was approximately \$29,000.00, and that the 1988 income was approximately \$45,000.00. The exhibits offered by defendant indicated that his gross income had increased over the ten years from the divorce by a sum of \$8,902.00, or \$890.00 a year, or an average increase of 2.72 percent per year on 1978 income. The Court found that the gross income had increased \$1,600.00 per year, or 5.5 percent based on the Court's finding of \$29,000.00 in 1978 (Tr. 109). The defendant provided evidence of his discretionary income at \$684.50 in the year of divorce (R. 86) (Addendum 1) compared with the \$416.00 in 1988 (R. 89) (Addendum 2). The Court did not address this aspect of the evidence.

The evidence indicated that the oldest child of the parties Craig Durfee lived in Grantsville with his grandmother (Tr. 41, 42), and that plaintiff lived in Salt Lake City with her current husband (Tr. 80). No evidence was offered that plaintiff contributed anything to the support of the child Craig Durfee. No evidence was offered by plaintiff as to the cost of maintaining the minor children of the parties in the year of the divorce, nor was there a proper foundation to the cost of maintaining the minor children during the year and at the time of the modification. (Tr. 73). Counsel for defendant was prevented from inquiring into the subject matter in his cross-examination concerning plaintiff's claimed household expenses. (Tr. 83). Plaintiff's Exhibit D Monthly Living Expenses (R. 85) (Addendum 3) claimed approximately \$1,000.00 for mortgage, taxes and insurance, \$300.00 for school expenses for plaintiff, \$100.00 for

child care for plaintiff's child with her current husband.

The evidence showed plaintiff's new husband had filed a petition in bankruptcy in 1988, and that a large percentage of the household monetary needs of plaintiff was created for the house payment itself, which house was purchased in 1985 by plaintiff and defendant for \$150,000.00, and on which the \$1,800.00 monthly payment was reduced by the Bankruptcy Court to \$800.00 a month, pending the resolution of the bankruptcy petition (Tr. 80). Counsel was prevented by the Court's ruling as to questions on cross-examination from exploring the full circumstances of plaintiff and the responsibility for the monetary requirement created by those circumstances as it may be allocated between plaintiff and her husband and the child, or children, the Court stating that it was irrelevant. (Tr. 83, 84).

The Court ruled that the Guidelines applied (Tr. 110) and in so ruling failed to consider the equitable nature of the proceeding and directed counsel to calculate the support obligation on a gross income of defendant of \$45,000.00, using the three-child schedule. The Court also ruled that non-covered and unpaid medical and dental expenses would be shared equally by the parties. (Tr. 110).

The children who were ages 6 and 1 at the time of the divorce were 16 years and 12 years of age at the time of trial. The oldest boy Craig Wayne Durfee had been living with his maternal grandmother in Grantsville since approximately 1986, and was living with her at the time of trial (Tr. 42). The younger

child moved with the mother on her remarriage to Salt Lake City and resided with her at the time of trial (Tr. 64). The plaintiff was not employed at the time of the original decree of divorce, nor was she employed at the time of trial, her work had been sporadic and for a period of less than 32 months since the divorce (Tr. 64).

The decree of divorce in this case had preceded the effective date of the "Child Support Guidelines" (R. 00000) and the Court in its opening remarks to counsel prior to the evidentiary portion of the trial indicated it would follow the Guidelines in this case. The calculations subsequently made translated directly into a dollar amount of support by applying the Guidelines. The Court did not consider or make findings with respect to the costs of the maintenance of either of the households of the parties, nor did the court make findings with respect to the abilities of the defendant to pay support, nor did the Court make findings with respect to the specific cost increases as to either boy, nor did the Court consider the impact on the plaintiff's household expenses of the nonresident child. Defendant's request that he be relieved of the obligation to pay child support to plaintiff for the minor child not living in her residence and dependent on her for support was denied.

At the time of trial, the defendant had remarried and had one child and offered evidence indicating that an analysis of his household expenses and his income in the years to be compared reflected no material change of circumstances for the better (Tr. 44), or, in the alternative, his discretionary income limited any

increase in child support to a very small one, if at all, and approached the analysis in his pleading and proof as had been the custom in petitions for modifications in such cases prior to the effective date of "Child Support Guidelines". It appears the Court rejected this method of determining whether or not a material change had occurred and likewise rejected defendant's proposed method of arriving at a support figure, if a change was indicated, and relied solely on the application of the Guidelines to the finding by the Court of the level of defendant's gross income the year immediately preceding trial.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The plaintiff in this action did not have the actual physical custody of the minor child Craig Durfee. Craig, living with his grandmother in Grantsville and was imposing no economic cost on plaintiff. The Court by reference to the Guidelines required defendant to pay the full amount for a child between the age of 16 as calculated in the Guidelines published in the Utah Code of Judicial Administration. The Court refused to terminate the requirement to pay the custodial parent, notwithstanding that parent did not have actual custody of the child. The defendant urges that the appropriate measure of support due is not under the Guidelines, but is the actual cost of caring for the child, and further that when the custodial parent has allowed a child to live elsewhere than in the home of the custodial parent, those payments should be paid to the actual care provider considering all the cost factors incurred by that care provider in connection with the child.

2. Two grounds of material and substantial change of custody were alleged in plaintiff's petition for a modification of the divorce decree. The first was that a change in the gross income of the defendant had taken place, and the second was that the cost of raising children increased as the children aged. The Court found both factors to present a material and substantial change of circumstances and the defendant challenges both. The defendant claims that an analysis of his income on a gross basis under the Guidelines was improper, and further that the analysis as applied led to the wrong conclusion. Also, defendant claims that the Court was not entitled to take judicial notice of the fact that children require greater support contributions or assistance from the parents as they age. Defendant claims urging the correct proof of whether or not the children as they age impose a greater economic burden on the parents is evidence showing the actual costs and impact of that child on the household; and the possible savings on the costs of the household generated by the child's earnings, if any; and in this case, the child's living in a home other than the residence of the custodial parent.

3. The Trial Court applied the Guideline schedules to fix the dollar value of support. In so doing, the Court ignored the wording in the Uniform Child Support Guidelines referring to decrees already in existence prior to the adoption of the Guidelines and prevented an inquiry into the "totality of the present circumstances of the parties" focusing exclusively on the gross income to the exclusion of other evidence. The fair

meaning of the Guideline position with respect to prior decrees being that the method used before the existence of the Guidelines to determine the need for and capacity to pay child support be applied in such cases.

4. Plaintiff offered as an exhibit her recapitulation of monthly expenses. In testing those claims, counsel was cross-examining as to the specifics of many of the items. After some questioning an objection was interposed and the Court prevented by sustaining the objection, any further inquiry as to the actual costs on the basis that they were not relevant to the analysis being undertaken. The defendant claims that to the extent possible, the needs of the children in cases arising prior to the Guidelines must be established by actual costs if those can be determined and allocated.

5. In the Order Modifying the Decree, the Court required the noncustodial parent to assume responsibility for one-half of all non-covered medical and dental expenses, and made that retroactive to currently existing expenses, some of which were dental expenses which were not properly proved. The Court in so doing ignored the Guidelines with respect to those routine medical expenses which the Guidelines contemplated would be borne by the custodial parent.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

The evidence shows that the minor Craig Wayne Durfee had been living with his grandmother in Grantsville since 1986. The mother and custodial parent, on the other hand, lived in Salt



Lake City with her new husband, the youngest child of the parties, and a child of the mother's current marriage. The plaintiff claimed that the \$150.00 being paid by defendant for Craig Wayne Dufee's support was in fact forwarded to her mother with whom Craig was living. No evidence was offered to show the actual costs of providing for the minor child Craig Durfee, nor was there any evidence offered to show what contribution Craig made, if any, to providing for himself.

Defendant urged on the Court the proposition that the biological mother, not having physical custody, was entitled to no support payment pursuant to the Guidelines, or any other method of establishing the same. While no Utah case is directly on point, the defendant ought not, in fairness and equity, be required to pay more than a proportion of the actual costs to support said child in terms of the reasonable and necessary expenses, and that payment should be made to the person incurring the cost of providing the support. In one Utah case, the Supreme Court expressed its opinion that a third party providing support for a child "then has the right to claim reimbursement from the parent the same as any other past debt. This right of reimbursement belongs to whomever furnished the support . . . ." Hunter v. Hunter, 669 P.2d 540 (Utah 1983). In the Hunter case the Court points out the well-settled principle that it is the "right of a child to receive support money from his father (parent) . . . . Hunter v. Hunter, at 431. Thus, it is clear that the right belongs to the child and not to the biological parent. Support money is generally paid to the parent with

custody because that parent has the immediate opportunity to apply payments to the child's benefit.

When the minor child does not live with the "custodial" parent and is dependent on another party for his reasonable and necessary support, the party providing that support in accordance with the rule of the Hunter case has the right to claim reimbursement from the parent(s). Hunter, at 431.

Thus, in this case, the Court erred in law in failing to terminate the requirement that defendant pay plaintiff support money for a child that she was not supporting. The Court might have directed that payments of support be paid by defendant directly to the person supporting the minor child Craig Durfee, that is, his grandmother. However, such payments would have to be in the amount equivalent to the costs incurred by the party providing the support and only to the extent of reasonable and necessary expenses for the child.

#### POINT II

The Guidelines themselves direct and instruct the Court not to apply the simplistic approach of determining the gross income of the obligor and the mechanistic determination of support by use of the schedules. Rather, the wording "case by case" and the "totality of the present circumstances of the parties" direct the Court away from the application of the Guidelines and require determination of the obligation and ability pursuant to "present case law". Utah Code of Judicial Administration, Appendix H, I, paragraph 4.

The evidence of defendant's gross earnings in the years

1978 and 1988 were offered by defendant, the plaintiff offering none, and were unrefuted. The Court nevertheless and without persuasive evidence thereon found against the statements of the defendant and against the weight of the evidence in connection with the totality of the earnings in the material years. There was no evidence that the defendant was making only \$29,000.00 in 1978, the evidence being he made \$32,634.00 that year. Defendant's 1988 salary, excluding a one-time strike payment, and the extraordinary receipt of two paychecks during the month of July 1988, which resulted in defendant's being paid 13 months in that year, was \$41,536.00. Almost exactly the same figure could be arrived at by adding his straight time plus average overtime plus differential for a monthly gross in 1988 of \$3,373.92.

To show a material change of circumstances, the movant is required to show a "substantial change in circumstance occurring since the entry of the decree and not contemplated in the decree itself." Stettler v. Stettler, 713 P.2d 699 (Utah 1985). With respect to a change in defendant's circumstances, his evidence showed a 2.7 percent gross annual increase and the Court's findings found a 5.5 gross percent annual increase. Both findings ignore tax impact and cost increases. Under either amount it could not reasonably be argued such a modest increase in salary was not contemplated by the parties at the time of the entry of the decree of divorce. Thus, the ruling that the mere increase in gross salary of defendant constituted a change was clearly erroneous.

The Court committed error in law by taking judicial

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