1989

Marilyn J. Durfee v. Frank W. Durfee : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Proceedings calling for the modification of divorce decrees granting child support, pursuant to the continuing jurisdiction of Utah courts in such matters, are proceedings in equity. As such, the trial court has liberal discretion and its findings and conclusions will be disturbed only upon a clear showing of abuse of discretion on appeal. In the present appeal, the appellant has failed to make such a showing.

The court below need only find one material change to justify the modification of a support award, but in fact found two. First, the court found that the annual income of the defendant rose at an average rate of \$1,600 per year, while the plaintiff/respondent was unemployed. (T. 108) Second, the court found that, as a matter of judicial notice, both of the children of the marriage had grown from toddlers to teenagers, and with that change in age came an increase in costs associated with support. If on appeal, either of these is found to be a material change of circumstances,

then the failure of the other to be so termed is not fatal to plaintiff/respondent's cause, since such is not prejudicial error; there was under that circumstance the necessary material change of circumstances.

Once there has been a material change found, the court continues to exercise a broad and liberal discretion in determining what level of support is appropriate. The court below elected to set the support amount for Chris and Craig at that level established by the uniform guidelines.

Having found a material change of circumstances not contemplated in the Decree at the time of the original decree, the court properly modified the amount of child support paid by the defendant/appellant. Such is consistent with the laws of this state, and there is, in this course of actions, no abuse of the court's equitable discretion.

POINT I

THE COURT APPROPRIATELY FOUND THAT THERE HAD BEEN A MATERIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES NOT CONTEMPLATED IN THE ORIGINAL DECREE OF DIVORCE

The appellant did not set forth the proper standard of review in matters of equity in its brief. The appropriate standard was set forth in Despain v. Despain, 610 P.2d 1303 (Utah 1980). The Utah Supreme Court stated:

"Under Utah law, a divorce court sits as a court in equity so far as child custody, support payments, and the like are concerned. [citations omitted] It likewise retains continuing jurisdiction over the parties, and power to make equitable redistribution or other modification of the original decree as equity might dictate. In both the formulation of the original decree and any modifications thereof, the trial court is vested

with broad discretionary powers, which may be disturbed by an appellate court only in the presence of clear abuse thereof.

Despain at 1305-1306.

In order to exercise its discretionary powers of equity in modifying support awarded in an original decree of divorce, the trial court must find a material change of circumstance. In one of only two cases, the second of which (Hunter) seems of dubious value for the purposes of these proceedings, appellant correctly cites the rule of law governing the modification of a decree of divorce:

On a petition for a modification of a divorce decree, the threshold requirement for relief is a showing of a material change of circumstances occurring since the entry of the decree and not contemplated in the decree itself.

Stettler v. Stettler, 713 P.2d 699 (Utah 1985) at 701, see also appellant's brief at 14. The appellant, in the same spot in his brief, admits to a 2.7% increase in the defendant's annual gross income, and states that "such a modest increase in salary was not contemplated by the parties at the time of the entry of the decree of divorce." (id.) In making such a statement, appellant misapplies the rule cited above from Stettler. The material change required is not one that "was contemplated by the *parties*", but rather is one not contemplated *in the decree itself*. Appellant has made no reference to any provision of the decree contemplating whatsoever an increase in appellant's salary or annual gross income. The appellant therefore has failed to demonstrate that this 'modest' increase in gross income was contemplated in the decree. Because the decree itself made no provisions for altering the amount of child support awarded based upon

changes in the gross income of the appellant, such a change in income was not contemplated in the decree itself. (See Appendix "A", Decree of Divorce) Therefore, if the change is found to be material under the broad discretion allocated to the trial court, and if that material change was not contemplated in the decree itself, such a finding satisfies the threshold requirement stated above. That is the case in this appeal. The court made a finding that the change in income was material, and such was founded upon evidence properly received. In light of no clear abuse of discretion, the findings of the court should be upheld.

POINT II

THE COURT APPROPRIATELY APPLIED THE SUPPORT GUIDELINES IN EFFECT AT THE TIME OF TRIAL.

The support guidelines in force at the time of the modification represent a conscious effort at scientific fact finding as exercised by the bar and the judiciary, assisted by sociological data. Judge Judith Billings, chair of the Utah Child Support Task Force, referring to the guidelines stated:

[The guidelines] represent a major step forward in providing predictable and uniform child support awards statewide.

(As quoted in "News -- Administrative Office of the Courts, p. 1) The amount and quality of scientific evidence incorporated into the development of the guidelines is significant. Prompted by concerns voiced by the Board of District Judges, the Task Force was organized, and was composed of judges, lawyers, legislators, economists, professors and representatives of public interest groups. (See May 1988 guidelines, p. 1)

During a course of regular hearings, the Task Force heard testimony from many parents during July 1987. The Task Force reviewed guidelines in place in many other states. The report of the task force states that "recent studies indicate that child support awards are critically deficient when measured against the economic costs of child rearing." (*id.*) A 1985 study estimated that \$27.5 billion in support would be due and owing in 1985, while a Census Bureau study indicated that only 70% of support awards is actually collected. The same study reported that the mean court-ordered support obligation in 1985 was \$199 per month for 1.8 children, while the poverty standard was \$273 per month for the same 1.8 children. Another study indicated that an order for \$191 per month for a child of a middle income family is equivalent to 25% of the average expenditures on that child. All of this data pointed to the need for the adoption of uniform guidelines.

The Task Force proceeded in developing guidelines by referring to those employed in other states and by analyzing three models employed in formulating guidelines, the cost-sharing model, the income equalization method, and the income shares model. Of the states which have adopted guidelines within the last two years, over one half have followed the income shares model, which attempts to fix an award which reflects the same proportion of parental income following the divorce that they would have received had there been no divorce. This approach has been favored because it assumes in its formulas that both parents have an obligation to support the child or children in question, and it bases the actual support awarded on the relative income available to each parent. In order to continue with this balances approach, the figures represented in the schedules formulated assume that the custodial parent receives the tax

exemptions for the children, reducing proportionally the amount of support paid by the non-custodial spouse. Such guidelines reflect serious study of the subject and an analysis of the need of Utah children, while keeping in mind the relative capacity of the parents to pay support. The appellant argues that for the judge to adopt the recommendations of the guidelines is reversible error, but fails to establish a clear abuse of discretion.

In addressing existing orders, the Task Force made two principal comments. First, that simply because the current support paid under an existing decree of divorce is less than that called for in the guidelines, such does not, of itself, constitute a material change of circumstances. Second, that existing orders should be considered on a case by case basis, by reviewing the totality of present circumstances at the time of modification to avoid working an undue hardship on the parents. The reasons for the first comments are obvious. The Task Force did not wish to create a flood of modification hearings by the stroke of a pen, in adopting and promulgating the guidelines. The reasons for the second are equally obvious. The Task Force did not want members of the judiciary to apply the guidelines to existing orders unless such was warranted by present circumstances.

The totality of present circumstances referred to in the guidelines cannot refer to a totality of all circumstances, but only of those relevant to the amount of support, if any, to be awarded. The legislature of this state, which also contributed to the promulgation of the guidelines, has established by statute certain criteria, each of which was appropriately considered by the court. Because the court received and reviewed evidence

on these points, it considered the "totality" of the "present circumstances."

The factors established by the legislature are:

- 1) The standard of living and situation of the parties;
- 2) The relative wealth and income of the parties;
- 3) The ability of the obligor to earn;
- 4) The ability of the obligee to earn;
- 5) The need of the obligee;
- 6) The age of the parties;
- 7) The responsibility of the obligor for the support of others.

(Taken from Utah Code Ann. §78-45-7(2); See also Ebbert v. Ebbert, 744 P.2d 1019 (Utah App. 1987) at 1023) These factors were present before the court as admitted evidence, and the court made specific findings on all of them but that of the age of the parties, although that fact was apparent to the court, and there is no factor of age which could be used to defeat the court's findings in any case. The court, at T. 108 - 111 entered findings which are encapsulated herein:

- 1) The plaintiff/respondent was at the time of modification unemployed. [Although one might argue that she could become income-producing in the future, such is not only speculative, but moves beyond the realm of present circumstances.]
- 2) The defendant/appellant had experienced a material change of circumstances in that his annual income had increased from about \$29,000 in 1978 to about \$45,000 at the time of the modification, representing a rather constant trend of increase amounting to an average of \$1,600 per year.

3) The court found that the factors affecting disposable or discretionary income in the defendant/appellant's household were substantially the same as those affecting the plaintiff/respondent's household.

4) The court order the calculation of the amount under the guidelines to be based upon a three-child calculation.¹

Thus, the court considered specifically those relevant factors established by the legislature. Importantly, the court used a three child calculation, since it was not the legal responsibility of the defendant/appellant to support the alleged fourth child. Thus, the court below made a thorough investigation of the situation of the parties and the children, and modified the award amount based upon its review of the totality of present circumstances.

Contrary to what appellant argues, discretionary income, considered alone, is not proof of either hardship, or of a failure to consider this case on a "case by case" basis in view of the totality of present circumstances.

Appellant should note that the guidelines specify that the court modifying existing orders should consider the totality of present circumstances of the parties and not only of the obligor. The court did so, finding that their discretionary incomes were equally impacted by similar if not identical external factors.

The court below, having found a material change of circumstances by viewing the totality of present circumstances under the guidelines

¹ Appellant claims that there should be a fourth child employed in the calculation. However, this "child" is not a "child" as defined by appropriate statute and case law. The appellant voluntarily assumed responsibility for the support of this fourth "child". As stated in Wright v. Wright, 586 P.2d 443 (Utah 1978), even stepchildren cannot defeat a parents obligation to support a child pursuant to a decree of divorce, for "the undertaking to support stepchildren does not relieve the parent of his obligation to support his own natural children." (Wright at 445)

themselves and the dictates of case law and statute, concluded that the application of the guidelines to the present situation was appropriate. For the judge below to have moved against the scientific evidence marshalled in the formulation of the guidelines without some important reason not to have followed the guidelines would indeed have constituted a clear abuse of discretion. The fact that the court did follow the guidelines given the evidence presented is likewise indicative of the court's proper acknowledgement of the extensive data and fact-finding incorporated into the guidelines.

Appellant urges an abuse of discretion due to the failure of the court to base the award not upon the gross annual income of the appellant, but upon the discretionary income of the appellant. Appellant fails to cite even one case which applied discretionary income as the appropriate measure of comparison between the parents in determining support awards. Respondent has reviewed the available case law and has failed to find even one case, which appellant could cite to support his argument. The guidelines themselves specify the gross income is the appropriate measure for a determination of an award pursuant to the guidelines. In so doing, the judge acted in keeping with the mandates of the community as represented on the Task Force and at its hearings, in conformity with case law, and in conformity with the law of this state. Appellant's argument on this point is without merit.

POINT III

THE COURT WAS ENTITLED TO TAKE JUDICIAL NOTICE OF THE IMPACT OF A CHILD'S INCREASED AGE ON THE AMOUNT OF SUPPORT AWARDED, AND

EVEN IF SUCH WERE ERROR, IT IS HARMLESS DUE TO THE AVAILABILITY OF
SUPPORTIVE UNCONTESTED EVIDENCE.

In his brief, appellant misstates the appropriate test of law for judicial notice according to the facts of the present case. Appellant cites the legal test applicable to adjudicative facts, not the test for the judicial notice of legislative facts. The fundamental difference between the two is quite simple: adjudicative facts refer to specifics, such as the location of Salt Lake City, or of Sugarhouse, whereas Legislative facts refer to statistical sorts of conclusion, such as a legislature or task force might make following a series of hearings and studies on a particular subject, much like the effort which went into the formulation of the support guidelines. Before proceeding to a discussion of the propriety of judicially noticing a legislative fact, we should note that the court did not base its determination of a material change of circumstances exclusively on the judicially noticed fact of the increased expense of supporting the children due to their growth into teenagers, but based its finding of a material change upon the obvious and substantial increase in the defendant's income as well. Taken individually or separately, there was nevertheless a material change of circumstances not contemplated in the decree of divorce itself.

A Washington case Wyman v. Wallace, 615 P.2d 452 (Washington 1980), explains the nature and role of judicially noticed legislative facts:

trial courts and appellate courts can take notice of "legislative facts" -- social, economic and scientific facts that "simply supply premises in the process of legal reasoning." [citations omitted] Under this doctrine a court can take notice of scholarly works, scientific studies, and social

facts. [citations omitted] This legislative fact doctrine is expressly recognized by both the state [Washington] and federal rules of evidence. in establishing strict requirements for judicial notice of "adjudicative facts", the state and federal rules carefully ensure that their requirements will not also restrict notice of "legislative facts".

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